A Study to Investigate if Scores on Procedural Memory are Associated with Scores on Kinaesthetic Intelligence

By Carmen Chereches

13109332

Supervisor: Dr. Matthew Hudson

B.A. (Hons) in Psychology

National College of Ireland

March 2021

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland

Research Students Declaration Form

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Carmen Chereches

Student Number: 13109332

Degree for which thesis is submitted: B.A. (Hons) Psychology

Title of Thesis: A Study to Investigate if Scores on Procedural Memory are

Associate with Scores on Kinaesthetic Intelligence.

Date: 15/03/2021

Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself. \Box

- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.
- D. *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award. *Or* *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below)

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Methods	11
Participants	11
Measures	12
Demographics	12
Multiple Intelligence Profiling Questionnaire VII (MIPQ-VII)	12
Alternating Serial Response Time task	13
Design and Analysis	13
Procedure	14
Results	14
Descriptive statistics	14
Inferential Statistics	15
Discussion	17
Limitations	19
Conclusion	20
References	21
Appendix 1	28
Appendix 2	29
Appendix 3	
Appendix 4	33
Appendix5	35

Abstract

The present study investigated the relationship between Procedural Memory as assessed by Reaction Time and Kinesthetic intelligence. In addition, the research investigated if there are gender differences regarding these two variables. A total of 33 participants were recruited for the study through snowball sampling technique from social media. Participants were asked to complete the Multiple Intelligence Profiling Questionnaire VII and the Alternating Serial Reaction Time task on Inquisit Web. The results indicated a moderate negative correlation between reaction time and kinesthetic intelligence. The results of the Mann-Whitney U test indicate no significant difference between females and males in reaction time and kinesthetic intelligence. This may have implication in sports and physical rehabilitation and narrow the literature gap regarding kinesthetic intelligence.

Keywords: procedural memory, kinesthetic intelligence, gender stereotypes

Introduction

Intelligence is defined as the "biopsychological potential to process information that can be activated in a cultural setting to solve problems or create products that are of value in a culture" (Gardner, 2000, p. 45).

It is a concept that has been debated from the time of the introduction of the first IQ test in 1900 and a consensus of the definition of intelligence is still out of sight today. In 1914, Alfred Binet, a French psychologist, following a request from the French government devised a test

to identify the children who were most likely to experience difficulties in learning Together with his colleague, Theodore Simon, they developed the Binet- Simon scale that was used to measure children's attention, memory and problem-solving skills with the purpose of identifying children who struggle and provide a base for tailored programs to support them in their aptitudes (Phillips, 2010). The two psychologists believed that the scale would be useful not so much for children with normal aptitude, but for the students who displayed lower abilities than their peers (Binet & Simon, 1948). Moreover, Binet was interested in testing children's coping skills in day-to-day life as well as testing them for cognitive abilities such as attention and memory. Binet and Simon (1948) designed a test which was progressively more difficult to test children aged 3 to13. The results showed that children of 8 years old were able to score correctly on the tests for the 6- and 4- years old children and to complete some of the tasks designed for the 10- years-old. They deduced from the results that while different children had the same test score, the correct and incorrect responses varied across the items hence indicating the existence of different mental factors. This would be the first test to measure intelligence as a cognition process.

The Binet- Simon scale (1948) together with the Spearman's work on general intelligence is at the base of most tests that are used today in measuring intelligence. Charles Spearman (1927) was a British psychologist, and he is well known for the Two Factor Theory of Intelligence that postulates that each intelligence test measures a common factor across all tests and additionally a unique element to that test; he named the common factor general intelligence or g factor (Spearman, 1927). Studies have found that general intelligence is a predictor of work achievement and performance, health in middle and late adulthood and has a positive correlation with duration of life (Deary et al., 2010).

Critics of the general factor of intelligence argue that g factor is restricted to logical, mathematical and linguistic concepts (Singh et al., 2017) and suggests that intelligence is pluralistic in nature: Thorndike (1920) argues that intelligence contains three parts: abstract intelligence, mechanical intelligence and social intelligence (Sternberg ,1985). Sternberg developed the Triarchic Theory of Intelligence which identified three intelligences: analytic, creative and practical. In accordance with his theory, individuals plan and successfully accomplish their plans; while they also take advantage of their strengths and compensate for their flaws in order to adjust and change their environment. Sternberg argues that the correlation of IQ test is unrelated to social settings (Sternberg, 1999). Thurstone (1938) argues that intelligence has seven abilities: reasoning, spatial visualization, word fluency, verbal comprehension, number facility, perceptual speed, and associative memory. Guilford (1967) proposed that intelligence has five operation categories, four content categories and six product categories which interact between them.

From the pluralistic theory, the most well known is Garner's Multiple Intelligences Theory (1983). Gardner's theory (1983) is an alternative theory to the g factor of intelligence, and it has received a great deal of attention from the teachers and the psychology community (Perez et al., 2014; Shearer & Karanian, 2017). Gardner (1983) developed a multiple intelligence theory which proposed that each person has their own learning style. The theory suggests that the concept of intelligence based on Intelligence Quotient is limited and emphasises the linguistic and mathematical skills only ignoring people such as architects, musicians, naturalists, dancers and therapists (Gardner, 1983). Instead, Gardner (1983) proposed 8 types of intelligence: linguistic intelligence, logical-mathematical intelligence, spatial intelligence, bodily kinaesthetic intelligence, musical intelligence, interpersonal intelligence. The researcher made a distinction between intelligence and domains and the relationship between them, for example in the musical domain a person may use musical intelligence as well as bodily-kinesthetic intelligence and interpersonal intelligence (Gardner, 1993). He argues that any person owns the eight intelligences but to varying degrees, but that is not to say that each individual is gifted into one intelligence or more and no person shares exactly the same intelligence profile with another person (Gardner, 1999). Critics of Gardner's MIT are arguing that when tested, MI shows a three factors structure for subjects with high performance and 2 factors structure for individuals who achieved low scores (Almeida et al., 2011). Visser et al., (2006) suggests that a single factor is identified across several task and Barnard & Olivares (2007) have similar findings for linguistic and logic mathematical intelligences.

Windsor and colleagues (2008) conducted a study to assess the learning styles in medical students, surgeons and trainees. The MIDAS questionnaire, which is a self-report questionnaire, showed high scores regarding kinaesthetic and spatial intelligence in surgeons, lower in trainees and very low scores in student. This finding suggests that kinesthetic intelligence can be learned and it is possible to enhance a person's skills through training. The participants who scored high on kinesthetic intelligence performed better on simple and complex laparoscopic procedures that the participants with lower scores, regardless of experience (Windsor et al., 2008). Three factors are involved in KI: motor logic which is about articulation and ordering of movement; kinaesthetic memory and kinaesthetic awareness which is related to information processed by the brain regarding the body's posture, movement and equilibrium changes.

Communication through gestures is observed through adulthood, metaphoric gestures, illustrators and a wide range of procedural knowledge and skills (Ekman &Friesen, 1969). Research is still scarce in the domain of KI due to the difficulty to assess kinaesthetic intelligence and the lack of reliable tests. Ardila (1999) calls for the introduction of fine movements tests such as finger tapping test and praxis ability test, to assist the measurement In support to the MIT, Shearer & Karanian (2017) investigated 318 neuroscientific reports and reported evidence that MI are linked to specific neural regions, for example, for Bodily-Kinesthetic the main groups of skills were identified as Motor Cognition, Dexterity, Whole body movement, Body awareness and Other movements (Brown et al, 2008). Research identified as primary regions the frontal and parietal areas, further divided in three subregions related to kinesthetic intelligence namely cerebellum, subcortical and temporal. The findings suggest that Dexterity and Whole-Body skills share regions such as the cerebellum and subcortical regions, while the temporal cortex is unique to Dexterity and missing for Body awareness and Motor cognition (Shearer, 2019). Results pointed that each skill originates from a particular and a shared region of the brain, and exhibits a general factor for logical-mathematical and linguistic intelligence (Shearer, 2019)

When it comes to KI, it appears that it shares with the Procedural Memory the ability to acquire skills through practice without conscious recollection of how the learning stages unfold (Cohen & Squire, 1980). The cerebellum, basal ganglia, and frontal cortex are regions of the brain that are involved in acquisition of new skills (Willingham, 1998) and are associated with Bodily-Kinesthetic Intelligence (Shearer, 2019).

Procedural memory is described as the implicit development of the motor skills through practice, and it occurs automatically. However, it is independent of cognitive skills as the case of H.M., a patient who had the medial temporal lobe removed in order to control seizures demonstrates (Squire, 2009). Following his surgery H.M. lost the ability to form new memories but retained all his memories 3 years prior the surgery. Consequently, he showed learning on a Mirror Drawing task, a motor task, suggesting the existence of a skill-based memory beside the declarative memory (Milner et al., 1968).

Control is not required in procedural knowledge and researchers suggests that once a skill has been learned, performance becomes automatic, and the involvement of the attention process on the task is no longer necessary (Kal et al., 2018; Beilock et al., 2002). Bailock et al. (2002) found that in advanced performers, engaging attention in step- by- step task performing may even be detrimental. They argue that an advanced performer may use the task performing knowledge as a well-defined operation and focusing the attention on the performance may interrupt this operation. This is not the case for a novice, where attention is still needed in consolidation of the skill.

Implicit or procedural knowledge as well as Kinesthetic Intelligence is important in many fields, ranging from language, to playing musical instruments, performing sports and to rehabilitating after brain injuries (Howard et al., 2004, Shearer, 2019; Shearer & Karanian, 2017). Differences in skill acquisition indicate that implicit motor learning may decrease after childhood, the peak being around age 12 and the skills in childhood may predict skills in adolescence (Barnett et al., 2013, Nemeth et al., 2013). While the process of acquiring implicit knowledge, is not completely understood by researchers, some evidence points that its composed of the unintentional learning of patterns from environment (Cleermans & Jimenez, 1998).

Research indicates that gender may play a role in the process of skill acquisition with males performing better than females in reaction time tasks in both auditory and visual stimuli and it is reported that persons who are involved in practicing regular physical activity may have a faster reaction time as compared with participants who have a sedentary lifestyle (Jain et al, 2015). Nevertheless, findings are inconsistent, with some research pointing at an enhanced male's dexterity in surgical settings while other researchers finding superior surgical skills in females and others finding no gender difference at all (Elneel et al., 2008, Chiu et al., 2020, Hendrie et al., 2016).

The aim of this study is to observe if there is a relationship between Bodily-Kinesthetic Intelligence and Procedural memory (RQ1) and if there is gender related differences in both Bodily-Kinesthetic Intelligence and Procedural Memory (RQ2).

Hypothesis 1 states that there will be a relationship between the predictor variables (PVs) of procedural memory as assessed by reaction time and the criterion variable (CV) bodily-kinesthetic intelligence. Based on previous findings that have claimed that male participant performs better than females on surgical skill tasks (Elneel et al., 2008), the second hypotheses states that there will be gender differences in kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory.

Methods

Participants

For the purpose of the present study, 108 participants were recruited, through convenient sampling and snowball sampling techniques using the researcher's social media accounts including Facebook, Instagram, Telegram and What's Up. However, 75 participants were excluded from the study as they did not finish the Alternating Serial Response Time task (Howard & Howard, 1997) or they quit before the completion of the task. The final sample for the present study consisted of 33 participants (Males: n=9; Female: n=24) all of whom were adults. The average age of the participants was 39 (SD= 6.66) years, ranging from 24 to 52 years. No demographic information was collected from the participants apart from gender and age; participants were required to be at least 18 years of age and to provide informed consent. Participants were mostly from Dublin and a minority from Italy.

Measures

Demographics

Participants were requested to indicate their age and their gender (male, female or other). All participants were over 18 years of age. Twenty-two participants were from Ireland (87.87%) and 4 from Italy (12.12%). The sample consisted of 29 Females (72.7%) and 9 Males (27.3%).

Multiple Intelligence Profiling Questionnaire VII (MIPQ-VII)

MIPQ VII was used to measure kinaesthetic intelligence. The MIPQ VII is a continuous scale developed by Tirri and Nokelainen (2008) and it is based on Gardner's Multiple Intelligence Theory (1983, 1999). The MIPQ uses a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5 (1=strongly disagree; 2=disagree; 3=neither agree or disagree; 4= agree; and 5= strongly agree) and it consists of 28 questions measuring intelligence on seven domains: (1) Linguistic intelligence; (2) Logical –mathematical intelligence; (3) Musical intelligence; (4) Spatial intelligence; (5) Bodily/Kinaesthetic intelligence; (6) Interpersonal intelligence; (7) Intrapersonal intelligence. Each Type of intelligence is assessed by 4 questions. The psychometric properties of MIPQ test are validated in previous studies with Cronbach Alpha score between .64 and .93 (Linguistic Intelligence α =.64; Logical-mathematical Intelligence α =.76; Musical Intelligence α =.93; Spatial Intelligence α =.73; Bodily/kinaesthetic Intelligence α =.74; Interpersonal Intelligence α = .82; and Intrapersonal Intelligence α =.70 (Tirri & Komulainen, 2002). An example of an item measuring for bodily-kinesthetic intelligence is I am handy; where the participant must choose one answer from 1 totally disagree to 5 totally *agree*. The authors did not establish a cut of point for the scores and high scores indicate high levels of intelligence.

Alternating Serial Response Time task

The ASRT task (Howard & Howard, 1997) was used to assess Procedural Memory or implicit learning in term of reaction time. In the ASRT task (Howard & Howard, 1997), 4 grey rectangles appeared on the screen on a horizontal axis. On every trial the target stimulus was one of the rectangles that would change colour in red. The participants were asked to show the stimulus position by pressing the corresponding key as fast and precise The keys corresponding from left were D, F, J and K. The stimulus remained on the screen until the participant pressed the correct key. Each block would have 90 trials and there was a total of 10 blocks. The blocks would start with 10 random trials (pattern or random trials) followed by 80 trials of patterns and random trials (one random trial followed by one pattern trial followed by random again and so on). The interchangeability of the random and pattern stimulus is demonstrated to reduce the participants' awareness of the pattern trials, thus avoiding the knowledge bias for the procedural memory to occur (Saevland & Norman, 2016). At the end of each block, the participants were informed of the speed and accuracy of their performance compared to the last two completed blocks and, they were asked to focus more on these two factors. There was a 20 second break before moving on to the next block. The ASRT task measures procedural memory through change in the reaction time over the course of 10 blocks (Howard & Howard, 1997; Nemeth et al, 2013).

Design and Analysis

The study made use of a quantitative method of data collection, including the administration of a questionnaire and the execution of a computerized task to detect if an association or a relationship between Procedural Memory and Kinesthetic intelligence exists. The present study is a within-subjects design. Spearman's rho corelation analysis was used to investigate the relationship between Procedural Memory in terms of reaction time and Bodily-

Kinesthetic intelligence. A Mann-Whitney U test was performed to investigate if there are gender effects on Procedural Memory and Kinesthetic Intelligence. Accuracy scores were excluded: in order to move on to the next trial the correct key had to be pressed therefore the reaction time correctly reflects the accuracy also. Failure to press the correct key would result in increased RT.

Procedure

The study was advertised on the researcher's social platforms, namely, Facebook, Instagram, Telegram and What's Up. Data was collected online through the Inquisit Web platform which the participants were asked to download and install on their electronic device (laptop, computer, mobile phone). After the installation of the Inquisit Web, the participants were prompted with the informed consent form. The details and the purpose of the study were presented in the form, along with the contact details of the researcher, organisation and supervisor of the project in case the participant experienced any distress as a result of the study. Demographics were collected from the participants such as age and gender in order to meet ethical requirements (see Appendix). If the participant, for any reason decided not to complete the survey, they were asked to press ctrl+ Q task and exit Inquisit. If they decided to continue, they were presented with the MIPQ which took approximately 5 minutes to complete. After the completion of the MIPQ the participants were asked to perform on the ASRT task. The average time of completing the ASRT task was 15-20 minutes.

Results

Descriptive statistics

The sample consisted of 33 participants (n=33), Females= 29 (72.7%) and Males= 9 (27.3%) aged between 24 and 52 years (mean= 39). The mean, median, SD, minimum and maximum scored are presented in Table 1 bellow:

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics

		N							
	Valid	Missing	Mean	Median	Deviation	Skewness	Kurtosis	Minimum	Maximum
Reaction Time (Pattern)	33	0	533.2636	478.2000	124.36119	.885	398	356.80	784.65
Reaction Time (Random)	33	0	536.8955	493.6500	117.60588	.922	266	377.30	787.45
Gender	33	0	1.27	1.00	.452	1.070	915	1	2
Age	33	0	39.00	39.00	6.661	094	392	24	52
Bodily Kinaesthetic Intelligence	33	0	15.9394	16.0000	3.39061	585	410	9.00	20.00

Inferential Statistics

Using the SPSS software, a correlation was run to investigate whether there was an association between participants' bodily kinesthetic intelligence and reaction time on ASRT task. All variables were continuous, but preliminary exploration revealed outliers as well as violation of the normality and linearity. According to Shapiro-Wilk test, the significance values for reaction time in pattern condition were p=.002, p=.001 for the reaction time in random condition and p=.005 for kinesthetic intelligence. The violation of linearity was determined through exploration of the scatterplot. As the data were considered non-parametric, a Spearman's rho correlation was preferred over Pearson's correlation.

The analysis implied a significant moderate negative correlation between KI and RT in the random condition, r(31) = -.456, p=.008 and between KI and RT in the pattern condition, r(31) = -.467, p=.006. This indicated that the high score on KI is associated with lower RT. This is presented in the Table 2 bellow.

Table 2. Spearman's rho, Significance values and Confidence Intervals

			95% Confidence	Intervals (2-tailed)
	Spearman's rho	Significance(2- tailed)	Lower	Upper
Reaction_Time_Pattern - Bodily_Kinesthetic_Intelligence	467	.006	704	138
Reaction_Time_Random - Bodily_Kinesthetic_Intelligence	456	.008	697	124

Next, in order to understand the effect of gender on kinesthetic intelligence and reaction time, an independent t- test was planned to be conducted. Preliminary analysis showed that for both types of reaction time (random and pattern) and for kinesthetic intelligence, scores for females were not normally distributed, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test, p<.05.

Moreover, exploration of a box plot for the reaction time in the pattern condition for gender revealed the presence of two outliers within the male group, namely cases 3 and 33, with values of 779.45 and 631.65, respectively. The same two outliers were identified in the box plot for the reaction time in the random condition for gender, were case number 3 had a score of 787.45 and case number 33 scored 631.8. No outliers were found for bodily- kinesthetic intelligence against gender.

As a result of the violation of the assumption of normality, the Mann- Whitney U test was performed as the non-parametric alternative to the independent sample t- test. Distribution of the reaction time and kinesthetic intelligence scores for males and females was not similar as assessed by visual inspection. Reaction time scores in the pattern condition (Mean Rank_{males}= 15.61; Mean Rank_{females}= 17.52), reaction time in the random condition (Mean rank_{males}=16.0; Mean rank_{females}=17.38) and kinesthetic intelligence scores (Mean rank_{males}= 19.83; Mean rank_{females}=15.94) were not statistically different between men and women, U=95.5, z=-.505, p=.619; U=99.0, z= -.364, p=.736; and U=135.5, z=1.08, p=.309, respectively. The exact sample distribution for U was used (Dineen & Blakesley, 1973), see below table 3.

	Gender	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
Reaction Time Pattern	Female	24	17.52	420.50
	Male	9	15.61	140.50
	Total	33		
Reaction Time Random	Female	24	17.38	417.00
	Male	9	16.00	144.00
	Total	33		
Bodily Kinaesthetic Intelligence	Female	24	15.94	382.50
	Male	9	19.83	178.50
	Total	33		

Table 3.Rank scores for Females and Males within each Measure

Discussion

The purpose of this research was to investigate if there is a relationship between Procedural Memory and Kinesthetic intelligence (RQ1) and, it also aimed to observe if there are any gender differences in terms of procedural memory and kinesthetic intelligence (RQ2). To investigate the first research question correlation analysis was employed. The analysis showed a moderate negative correlation between reaction time and kinesthetic intelligence, as participants who scored high on kinesthetic intelligence. This result supports H1, which foresaw a relationship between kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory. Prior findings have demonstrated that reaction time is an important factor of skill acquisition and research is demonstrating that athletes have faster reaction time compared to normal healthy subjects (Jain et al., 2012).

The second hypothesis, which predicted gender differences in kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory was examined using a non- parametric t-test. The present study found no significant differences between females and males in these two areas, supporting previous literature that suggest that males and females do not differ in skill acquisition. Literature review has indicated that the difference between genders disappear if the females are benefiting from one-to-one instructions and feedback (Ali et al., 2015). Moreover, different factors may influence a female's skill performance such as harassment, lower levels of respect from colleagues, lack of support, gender discrimination, societal pressure, lack of maternity support, and male standards (Lim et al., 2021, Bernardi et al., 2020) Such factors may impair the accuracy of the data in the literature as it is difficult to establish real comparative values between gender.

On Gardner's MI, intelligences such as logical-mathematic, spatial-visual, and bodilykinesthetic intelligence are perceived as being more masculine while interpersonal, musical and linguistic are perceived to be more feminine (Bennet et al., 2000). Previous research suggests that self-estimate of intelligence is normally influenced by gender stereotype; people code and organize information in term of gender, which is process called gender schema theory (Bem, 1981, Rammstedt & Rammsayer, 2002). What is more, evidence has shown that in a relative equal educated sample, the males did not estimate themselves as being more intelligent than females, and amongst men, but not in women, certain aspects of intelligence are influenced by gender stereotypes (Rammstedt & Rammsayer, 2002).

Apart from gender differences, physical activity may influence how well a participant performs on reaction time, research has demonstrated that engaging in regular physical exercise results in a faster reaction time (Jain et al, 2015, TP et al., 2012). Those combined factors are showed to influence both skill acquisition as well as reaction time and the relation between them is far more complex than previously thought this is especially true for the female population.

Limitations

The present study, as far as the researcher is aware, is the first to investigate the corelation between kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory. Despite its innovative nature, limitations of the present study should be recorded and addressed in future research. It is important to consider that the sample consisted of only 33 participants with 24 being females and 9 males. Such a sample distribution may not be representative of the general population and it might influence the trustworthiness of the findings regarding gender differences. Alongside the sample shortcoming, the use of MIPQ, which is a self-report scale, may further threaten the reliability of the present result. According to Fisher and Katz (2000), self-report assessments are suggestible to subjectivity and the intentional misreporting of sensitive information. Apart from the tendency to respond in a manner that is deemed socially desirable, responses may also be impacted by a person's ability to cognise the questions and make the correct self-assessment, (Fisher &Kats, 2000, Latkin et al., 2017, Timler et al., 2019). In this way, the accuracy of the interpretation of the MPQ scores may be questioned. In addition, the MPIQ has got only four questions assessing kinesthetic intelligence, hence it may not be highly accurate, even though it had been found to have good reliability (Tirri & Nokelainen, 2011). When it comes to reaction time task (ASRT), it is essential to highlight that it was not administered in lab settings to control for events that may have influenced the participants response such as time of day, tiredness and distractions. Alongside, employing more participants, future research could benefit from using a more representative sample for bodilykinesthetic such as athletes or dancers, who could be compared with a control group to assess the degree of difference in kinesthetic intelligence between groups on a more accurate task. Another limitation of the study is that it made use of cross-sectional data that do not allow for conclusions about the direction of causality, i. e., it is not clear if Kinesthetic intelligence

influences procedural memory or vice versa. Further research may investigate what is the

nature of relationship between procedural memory and kinesthetic intelligence: it is a better procedural memory which determines high kinesthetic intelligence or it is an innate kinesthetic intelligence that may influence procedural memory?

A final limitation worth mentioning is the fact that the present study did not analysed the relationship of age with kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory. Previous research has suggested that learning in an implicit manner decreases after the age of 12 and significantly age differences had been demonstrated by reaction time tasks, implicit learning being replaced by internally structured models of the world (Feeney et al., 2002; Howard et al., 2013; Nemeth et al, 2013).

Conclusion

In conclusion, there is evidence for a correlation between procedural memory and kinesthetic intelligence, but the more research is needed to investigate this relationship. The present study found no gender differences in both kinesthetic intelligence and procedural memory, and if equal learning opportunities are presented, females perform similar to males in skill acquisition. Further studies are needed to replicate this finding and use more precise measures for kinesthetic intelligence. Likewise, more research is needed to observe what is the relationship between PM and KI, i.e., does KI precede PM or vice versa?

References

- Ali, A., Subhi, Y., Ringsted, C., & Konge, L. (2015). Gender differences in the acquisition of surgical skills: a systematic review. *Surgical endoscopy*, 29(11), 3065-3073.
- Almeida, L., Prieto, M. D., Ferreira, A. I., Ferrando, M., Ferrándiz, C., Bermejo, M. R., Hernández, D. (2011). Structural invariance of multiple intelligences, based on the level of execution. Psicothema, 24, 832-838.
- Ardila A. (1999). A neuropsychological approach to intelligence. *Neuropsychology review*, 9(3), 117–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021674303922</u>.
- Barnard, L., & Olivarez, A. (2007). Self-estimates of multiple, g factor, and school-valued intelligences. *North American Journal of Psychology*, *9*(3), 501–510.
- Barnett, M., L., Van Beurden, E., Morgan, P., J., Brooks, L., O. & Beard, J (2010). Gender Differences in Motor Skill Proficiency From Childhood to Adolescence, *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 81:2, 162-170,

DOI: <u>10.1080/02701367.2010.10599663</u>

- Beilock, S. L., Carr, T. H., MacMahon, C., & Starkes, J. L. (2002). When paying attention becomes counterproductive: impact of divided versus skill-focused attention on novice and experienced performance of sensorimotor skills. *Journal of experimental psychology. Applied*, 8(1), 6–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//1076-898x.8.1.6</u>.
- Bem, S. L. (1981). Gender Schema Theory: A Cognitive Account of Sex Typing. *Psychological Review*, 88(4), 354-364.
- Bennett, M. (2000). Self-estimates and population estimates of ability in men and women. Australian Journal of Psychology, 52(1), 23-28.

- Bernardi, K., Shah, P., Lyons, N. B., Olavarria, O. A., Alawadi, Z. M., Leal, I. M., ... & Liang, M. K. (2020). Perceptions on gender disparity in surgery and surgical leadership: A multicenter mixed methods study. *Surgery*, 167(4), 743-750.
- Binet, A., & Simon, T. (1948). The development of the Binet-Simon Scale, 1905-1908. In *Readings in the history of psychology*. (pp. 412–424). Appleton-Century-Crofts. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11304-047</u>
- Brown, S., Martinez, M., J., Parsons, L., M. (2008). The Neural Basis of Human Dance, *Cerebral Cortex*, Volume 16, Issue 8, p. 1157– 1167, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhj057</u>
- Chiu, H., Kang, Y., Wang, W., Tong, Y., Chang, S., Fong, T.,Wei, P. (2020). Gender differences in the acquisition of suturing skills with the da Vinci surgical system. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 119, 62-470.
- Cleeremans, A., & Jimenez, L. (1998). Implicit sequence learning: The truth is in the details. In M. A. Stadler & P. A. Frensch (Eds.), *Handbook of implicit learning* (pp. 323–364). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cohen, N. J., & Squire, L. R. (1980). Preserved learning and retention of pattern-analyzing skill in amnesia: Dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science*, 210(4466), 207–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7414331</u>
- Deary, I. J., Penke, L., & Johnson, W. (2010). The neuroscience of human intelligence differences. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, 11(3), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2793.
- Dinneen, C. & Blakesley, B., C. (1973.). A Generator for the Sampling Distribution of the Mann-Whitney U Statistic, *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series C*, Royal Statistical Society, vol. 22(2), pages 269-273, June.

- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1969). The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding. *Nonverbal communication, interaction, and gesture*, 57-106.
- Elneel, F.H.F., Carter, F., Tang, B. (2008). Extent of innate dexterity and ambidexterity across handedness and gender: Implications for training in laparoscopic surgery. *Surg Endosc* 22, 31–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-007-9533-0</u>.
- Feeney, J. J., Howard, J. H., Jr, & Howard, D. V. (2002). Implicit learning of higher order sequences in middle age. *Psychology and aging*, 17(2), 351–355.
- Fisher, R. J., & Katz, J. E. (2000). Social-Desirability Bias and the Validity of Self-Reported Values. *Psychology & Marketing*, 17(2), 105-120.
- Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of Mind: *The theory of multiple intelligences* (2nd ed.). New York, New York: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (1993). Frames of Mind: *The theory of multiple intelligences* (10th ed.). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gardner, H. (1999). The disciplined mind: What all students should understand. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.
- Guilford, J., P.(1967). "Creativity," American Psychologist 5 (1950): 444–454.
- Hendrie, J., Nickel, F., Bruckner, T., Kowalewski, K., Garrow, C., Mantel, M., Romero, P., & Müller-Stich, B. (2016). Sequential learning of psychomotor and visuospatial skills for laparoscopic suturing and knot tying study protocol for a randomized controlled trial "The shoebox study." *Trials*, *17*(1), 14–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1145-8</u>.
- Howard J. H., Jr., Howard D. V. (1997). Age differences in implicit learning of higher-order dependencies in serial patterns. *Psychol. Aging* 12, 634–656 10.1037/0882-7974.12.4.634 [PubMed]

- Howard, D. V., Howard Jr, J. H., Japikse, K., DiYanni, C., Thompson, A., & Somberg, R. (2004). Implicit sequence learning: effects of level of structure, adult age, and extended practice. *Psychology and aging*, 19(1), 79.
- Howard, J. H., Jr, & Howard, D. V. (2013). Aging mind and brain: is implicit learning spared
 in healthy aging?. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4, 817.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00817.
- Jain, A., Bansal, R., Kumar, A., & Singh, K. D. (2015). A comparative study of visual and auditory reaction times on the basis of gender and physical activity levels of medical first year students. *International journal of applied & basic medical research*, 5(2), 124–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-516X.157168</u>.
- Kal E., Prosée R., Winters M., van der Kamp J. (2018). Does implicit motor learning lead to greater automatization of motor skills compared to explicit motor learning? A systematic review. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203591</u>.
- Latkin, C. A., Edwards, C., Davey-Rothwell, M. A., & Tobin, K. E. (2017). The relationship between social desirability bias and self-reports of health, substance use, and social network factors among urban substance users in Baltimore, Maryland. *Addictive behaviors*, 73, 133–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.005</u>.
- Lim, W. H., Wong, C., Jain, S. R., Ng, C. H., Tai, C. H., Devi, M. K., ... & Chong, C. S. (2021). The unspoken reality of gender bias in surgery: A qualitative systematic review. *Plos one*, 16(2), e0246420.
- Milner B, Corkin S, Teuber HL. (1968). Further analysis of the hippocampal amnesic syndrome: 14-year follow-up study of H.M. *Neuropsychologia*. 6:215–34.
- Nemeth, D., Janacsek, K., & Fiser, J. (2013). Age dependent and coordinated shift in performance between implicit and explicit skill learning. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*. 7, 147.

- Perez, L., M., R., Nieto, M., P., Otero, I., R., Amengual, A., R., Manzano, J., A., N. (2014). Relationship among multiple intelligences, motor performance and academic achievement in secondary school children. *International Journal of Academic Performance*. 6(6).
- Phillips, H. (2010). Multiple Intelligences: Theory and Application. *Perspectives In Learning*, *11* (1). Retrieved from https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/pil/vol11/iss1/4.
- Rammstedt, B., & Rammsayer, T. H. (2002). Gender differences in self-estimated intelligence and their relation to gender-role orientation. *European journal of personality*, 16(5), 369-382.
- Sævland, W. and Norman, E. (2016). Studying Different Tasks of Implicit Learning across Multiple Test Sessions Conducted on the Web. *Front. Psychol.* 7:808. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00808.
- Shearer, C. (2019). A Detailed Neuroscientific Framework for the Multiple Intelligences: Describing the Neural Components for Specific Skill Units within Each Intelligence. *International journal of psychological studies*, 11, 1.
- Shearer, C., & Karanian, J.M. (2017). The neuroscience of intelligence: Empirical support for the theory of multiple intelligences? *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, 6, 211-223.
- Singh, Y., Makharia, A., Sharma, A., Agrawal, K., Varma, G., & Yadav, T. (2017). A study on different forms of intelligence in Indian school-going children. *Industrial psychiatry journal*, 26(1), 71–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj_61_16</u>.
- Spearman, C. E. (1927). The abilities of man, their nature and measurement. New York: Macmillan.
- Squire L. R. (2009). The legacy of patient H.M. for neuroscience. *Neuron*, 61(1), 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.12.023

- Sternberg, R. J. (1985). *Beyond IQ: A triarchic theory of human intelligence*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Sternberg, R. J. (1999). The theory of successful intelligence. *Review of General Psychology*, 3, 291-317.
- Thorndike, E. (1920). A constant error in psychological ratings. Journal of Applied Psychology.4, 25-29.

Thurstone, L. (1938). Primary mental abilities. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

- Timler, A., McIntyre, F., Rose, E., & Hands, B. (2019). Exploring the influence of selfperceptions on the relationship between motor competence and identity in adolescents. *PloS* one, 14(11), e0224653. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224653.
- Tirri, K., & Komulainen, E. (2002). Modelling a self- rated intelligence profile for virtual university. *Theoretical understandings for learning in virtual university* p 139-168. In H. Niemi & P. Ruohotie (Eds.).
- Tirri, K., & Nokelainen P. (2011). Multiple Intelligences Profiling Questionnaire. In: Tirri K., Nokelainen P. (eds) Measuring Multiple Intelligences and Moral Sensitivities in Education. Moral Development and Citizenship Education, vol 5. SensePublishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6091-758-5_1</u>.
- Tirri, K., & Nokelainen, P. (2008). Identification of multiple intelligences with the Multiple Intelligence Profiling Questionnaire III. *Psychology Science*, *50*(2), 206.
- TP, G., Mehta, H. B., Gokhale, P. A., & Shah, C. J. A (2012). Comparative Study of Visual Reaction Time in Basketball Players and Healthy Controls. *National Journal of Integrated Research in Medicine*. Vol. 3 Issue 1, p49-51. 3p.
- Visser, B., Ashton, M. & Vernon, P. (2006). Beyond g: Putting multiple intelligence theory to the test. *Intelligence* 34, 487-502.

- Wechsler, D. (1939). *The Measurement of Adult Intelligence*. Baltimore (MD): Williams& Witkins. p. 229.
- Willingham, D. B. (1999). The Neural Basis of Motor-Skill Learning. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 8(6), 178–182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00042</u>.
- Windsor, J., A., Diener, S., Zoha, F. (2008). Learning style and laparoscopic experience in psychomotor skill performance using a virtual reality surgical simulator. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 195, 837-842.

You are invited to take part in the present research project.

I am a final year undergraduate student at the National College of Ireland. As part of my degree, I am conducting a study to investigate if Procedural Memory is associated with Kinesthetic Intelligence.

Procedural Memory is motor skill memory that helps us perform particular tasks without conscious awareness eg. riding a bike.

Kinesthetic Intelligence is the ability to learn through doing and the ability to duplicate something after doing it once.

To be able to take part in this study, you must be over 18 years of age.

You will be required to complete the Multiple Intelligence Profiling Questionnaire and Alternating Serial Response Time task.

Participation in this study will take approximately 25 minutes and is purely voluntary. You may withdraw at any stage by pressing CTRL+Q.

questions If you have any please contact me. Carmen Chereches (exppsych2021@gmail.com), Matthew Hudson supervisor Dr or my (matthew.hudson@ncirl.ie)

□ I understand what this study is about, my rights as a participant, and I consent to take part

What is your gender?

 \Box Female \Box Male \Box I prefer not to answer this question \Box Other

What is your age?

1. Writing is a natural way for me to express myself.

Strongly Disagree

Disagree
Neutral
Agree
Strongly Agree

2. At school, studies in native language were easier for me.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
3. I have recently written something that i am especially proud of, or for which I have received recognition.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 4. Metaphors and vivid verbal expressions help me learn efficiently.

Strongly Disagree

 Disagree
 Neutral
 Agree
 Strongly Agree

 6. I can work with and solve complex problems.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 7. Mental arithmetic is easy for me.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 8. I am good at games and problem solving, which require logical thinking.

Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
 At school, geometry and various kind of assignments involving spatial perception.
 Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
 It is easy for me to conceptualize complex and multidimensional patterns.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 11. I can easily imagine how a landscape looks from a bird's eye view.

Strongly Disagree

 Disagree
 Neutral
 Agree
 Strongly Agree

 12. When I read, I form illustrative pictures or designs in my mind.

Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
13. I am handy.

Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
14. I can easily do something concrete with my hands (e.g. knitting and woodwork).
Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
15. I am good at showing how to do something in practice.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 16. I was good at handicrafts in school.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree \square Neutral \Box Agree □ Strongly Agree 17. After hearing a tune once or twice, I am able to sing or whistle it quite accurately. □ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree 18. When listening to music, I am able to discern instruments or recognize melodies. □ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree \Box Neutral \Box Agree □ Strongly Agree 19. I can easily keep the rhythm when drumming a melody.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 20. I notice immediately if a melody is out of tune.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 21. Even in strange company, I easily find someone to talk to.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 22. I get along easily with different types of people.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree
 23. I make contact easily with other people.

Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree
 24. In negotiations and group work, I am able to support the group to find a consensus.
 Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree

25. I am able to analyze my own motives and ways of actions.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Strongly Agree □ Agree 26. I often think about my own feelings and sentiments and seek reasons for them. □ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral \Box Agree □ Strongly Agree 27. I spend time regularly reflecting on the important issues in life. □ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree 28.I like to read psychological or philosophical literature to increase my selfknowledge.

□ Strongly Disagree □ Disagree □ Neutral □ Agree □ Strongly Agree



Get Ready:

place your left middle and index finger on the 'D' and 'F' place your right index and middle finger on the 'J' and 'K'





Histogram



ta Output20	6.spv [Docu	ment38] -	IBM SPSS S	tatistics View	ver															-	٥	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit	t <u>V</u> iew	<u>D</u> ata	Transform	n <u>I</u> nsert	F <u>o</u> rmat	<u>A</u> nalyze	<u>G</u> raphs	<u>U</u> tilities	Extensio	ons <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp											
	I Print	<u>a</u> ,	2						2		Q											
	- 4	gender	^	ern	neweulanFa	033.2	030 1	24.30119	33													^
	🖨 🖪 Ste	em-and-L		Gender		1	.27	.452	33													
		Title gender gender rmal Q-Q		Correlations																		
	- G	Title gender						Bodily hetic	_Kinest :_Total	MedianRando	MedianPatter n	Gender										
		gender		Bodily_Kine	sthetic_Tota	Pears	on Correlat	ion	1	343	341	.154										
		Title				Sig. (2	-tailed)			.051	.052	.393										
		gender.				N			33	33	33	33										
	E Bo	gender.		ReactionTim	neMedianRa	n Pears	on Correlat	ion	343	1	.995	083										
😰 Log	чШ 00			dom		Sig. (2	-tailed)		.051		.000	.644										
🕨 🖪 NPar	Tests					N			33	33	33	33										
	litte Notes			ReactionTim	neMedianPa	tt Pears	on Correlat	ion	341	.995	1	112										
- 6	Descriptive	Statistics		ern		Sig. (2	-tailed)		.052	.000		.535										
🗎 🗎 🔁 🚺	Mann-Whitn	ey Test				N			33	33	33	33										
	Ranks			Gender		Pears	on Correlat	ion	.154	083	112	1										
	Test St	atistics				Sig. (2	-tailed)		.393	.644	.535											
- 🖆 Log						N			33	33	33	33										
Correction of the correction o	elations Title Notes Descriptive : Correlations parametric C	Statistics s Correlation	N	**. Correl IONPAR CORF /VARIABLE /PRINT=SI /MISSING=	lation is sign R ES=Bodily_ PEARMAN TW =PAIRWISE.	ificant at the Kinesthet OTAIL NOS	e D.D1 level ic_Total IG FULL	(2-tailed). RT_R RT_P	gender_	response												
	nte Notes Correlations	5	× N	lonparam	etric Corr	elations																~
Print														IBM SI	PSS Sta	tistics Pri	ocessor i	is ready		Unico	de:ON	_
۶ 🗉	O Type h	nere to s	earch			Ħ	4	.	0	0	ol 🖷	2		9	Q	?	< 10 A	⊲ √ × <i>(</i> (,	😻 ENG	17:0 14/03/	8 2021	2

	Output26.	.spv [Docu	ument38]	- IBM SP	SS Sta	tistics V	iewer																					-	D	×
Eile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	<u>D</u> ata	<u>T</u> rans	form	<u>I</u> nser	t F <u>o</u> rn	nat <u>A</u>	nalyze	<u>G</u> raphs	<u>U</u> tiliti	ies E <u>x</u> t	ensions <u>W</u> indow	H	<u>l</u> elp															
					2) 🛄 🖝 🛪 🦉 🖺 📥 📰 📄 📷 💽 💽 🔍																									
			gender gender gender tem-and-L		M	ann-W	hitney	Test		Ranks																				,
			gender gender	r. r.					Gender	N	N	Vean Rank	Sum of Ranks																	
			ormai Q-Q জ Title	2	R	eaction	TimeMed	ianPatt	Female		24	17.52	420.50																	
		ù	🚡 gende	c 📗	e	m			Male		9	15.61	140.50																	
			🚡 gendei	r.					Total		33																			
			eirendeu 善 Title	<u> </u>	R	eaction	TimeMed	ianRan	Female		24	17.38	417.00																	
			🚡 gendei	c	d	om			Male		9	16.00	144.00																	
			🖬 gendei ovolot	r.					Total		33																			
(🗎 Log		oxprot		в	odily_K	inesthetic	_Total	Female		24	15.94	382.50																	
	NPar T	Fests							Male		9	19.83	178.50																	
		tie otes							Total		33																			
	→ E M	escriptive ann-Whitr Title Ranks	e Statistics ney Test tatistics	5					Test S Reactio Median	tatistics nTime Patter	a Reactio Median	onTime nRando m	Bodily_Kinest																	
	Correl:	ations			M	ann-Wł	nitnev U			95 500		99.000	82 500																	
	<u> </u>	tle			N	/ilcoxon	W		1	40.500	1	44.000	382.500																	
		otes escriptive	Statistics	3	z					505		364	-1.048																	
	io	orrelation	IS		A	symp. S	ig. (2-tail	ed)		.613		.716	.295																	
	Log Nonpa	arametric	Correlatio	or	ES	xact Sig ig.)]	I. [2*(1-tai	led		.619 ^b		.736 ^b	.309 ^b																	
		ue otes			_	a. Gro	uping Va	iable: G	ender																					
۲	iii c	orrelation	is 🔉	~		b. Not	corrected	l for ties	-																					`
									_											IBM	SPSS	Statis	tics P	roces	or is re	eady		Uni	code:Of	۹.
-	Q	Type I	here to s	search					Ξi	4		1	0 0	Q		w	2		W	4	1 🔮	1	?	~ ¶		× G	👯 EN	G 14/0	7:07 03/2021	2